Meteorology

for Scientists and Engineers

Third Edition

ROLAND STULL

The University of British Columbia
Vancouver, Canada



Meteorology for Scientists and Engineers, 3rd Edition

Copyright © 2011, 2015 by Roland Stull Dept. of Earth, Ocean & Atmospheric Sciences University of British Columbia 2020-2207 Main Mall Vancouver, BC, Canada V6T 1Z4

This work is available at http://www.eos.ubc.ca/books/Practical_Meteorology/

ISBN-13: 978-0-88865-178-5

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International License.

To view a copy of the license, visit

http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/.



Under this license, you are free to:

Share — copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format;

Adapt — translate into different languages, transform, remix, and build upon the material. Under the following terms:

Attribution — You must give appropriate credit to Roland Stull, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests that Stull endorses you or your use.

NonCommercial — You may not use the material for commercial purposes.

ShareAlike — If you translate, transform, remix, or build upon the material, you must distribute your contributions under the same license as the original.

Not covered under this Creative Commons license are images copyright by Warren Faidley (on the front cover and spine), Gene Moore (Fig. 15.3), and Gene Rhoden (Figs. 14.1, 14.3, 14.5 and the figure in the solved example on page 484). While these images may be used with copies of this book, they may not be extracted and used separately from this book without permission of the copyright holders.

•

Cover photograph copyright © by Warren Faidley / weatherstock.com, used with permission.

Scene is a July 1996 thunderhead over southern Arizona, USA.

•

CONTENTS

CONTENTS SUMMARY

Preface XIII

Chapter 1 • The Atmosphere 1

Chapter 2 • Radiation 27

Chapter 3 • Heat 53

Chapter 4 • Moisture 87

Chapter 5 • Stability 119

Chapter 6 • Clouds 159

Chapter 7 • Precipitation 185

Chapter 8 • Remote Sensing 219

Chapter 9 • Weather Reports & Map Analysis 267

Chapter 10 • Dynamics 289

Chapter 11 • Global Circulation 329

Chapter 12 • Airmasses & Fronts 389

Chapter 13 • Extratropical Cyclones 425

Chapter 14 • Thunderstorms 481

Chapter 15 • Thunderstorm Hazards 545

Chapter 16 • Hurricanes 603

Chapter 17 • Local Winds 645

Chapter 18 • Atmospheric Boundary Layer 687

Chapter 19 • Air Pollution Dispersion 723

Chapter 20 • Numerical Weather Prediction (NWP) 745

Chapter 21 • Natural Climate Processes 793

Chapter 22 • Optics 833

Appendix A • Fundamentals of Science 869

Appendix B • Constants & Conversion Factors 879

Index • 881

"Meteorology for Scientists and Engineers, state tion" by Roland Stull is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike "Meteorology for Scientists and Engineers, 3rd Edi-

4.0 International License. To view a copy of the license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/ . This work is available at http://www.eos.ubc.ca/books/Practical_Meteorology/

CHAPTER 1 • THE ATMOSPHERE

Introduction 1

Meteorological Conventions 2

Earth Frameworks Reviewed 3

Cartography 4

Azimuth, Zenith, & Elevation Angles 4

Time Zones 5

Thermodynamic State 6

Temperature 6

Pressure 7

Density 10

Atmospheric Structure 11

Standard Atmosphere 11

Layers of the Atmosphere 13

Atmospheric Boundary Layer 13

Equation of State-Ideal Gas Law 14

Hydrostatic Equilibrium 15

Hypsometric Equation 17

Process Terminology 17

Pressure Instruments 19

Summarv 19

Threads 19

Tips 20

Exercises 21

Numerical Problems 21

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 23

Web-Enhanced Questions 24

Synthesis Questions 25

CHAPTER 2 • RADIATION 27

Orbital Factors 27

Planetary Orbits 27

Orbit of the Earth 27

Seasonal Effects 30 Daily Effects 32

Sunrise, Sunset & Twilight 33

Flux 34

Radiation principles 36

Propagation 36

Emission 36

Distribution 39

Average Daily Insolation 40

Absorption, Reflection & Transmission 41 Beer's Law 43	
Surface Radiation Budget 44	CHAPTER 4 • MOISTURE 87
Solar 44 Longwave (IR) 45 Net Radiation 45	Saturation Vapor Pressure 87 Vapor Pressure 87
Actinometers 45	Saturation 87
Summary 47 Threads 47	Humidity Variables 91 Mixing Ratio 91 Specific Humidity 91
Exercises 47 Numerical Problems 47 Understanding & Critical Evaluation 49 Web-Enhanced Questions 51 Synthesis Questions 51	Absolute Humidity 91 Relative Humidity 92 Dew-Point Temperature 92 Saturation Level or Lifting Condensation Level (LCL) 93 Wet-Bulb Temperature 94
	More Relationships Between Moisture Variables 96
CHAPTER 3 • HEAT 53	Total Water 97 Liquid and Solid Water 97 Total-Water Mixing Ratio 97 Precipitable Water 98
Sensible and Latent Heats 53 Sensible 53 Latent 56	Lagrangian Budgets 99 Water Conservation 99 Heat Conservation for Saturated Air 101
Lagrangian Heat Budget – Part 1: Unsaturated 57 Air Parcels 57 First Law of Thermodynamics 58 Lapse Rate 59 Adiabatic Lapse Rate 60 Potential Temperature 61 Thermodynamic Diagrams –Part 1: Dry Adiabatic	Eulerian Water Budget 107 Horizontal Advection 107 Precipitation 107 Surface Moisture Flux 108 Turbulent Transport 109 Humidity Instruments 111
Processes 63	Summary 112
Eulerian Heat Budget 64 First Law of Thermo. – Revisited 64 Advection 65 Molecular Conduction & Surface Fluxes 67 Turbulence 69 Radiation 71 Internal Source: Latent Heat 72 Net Heat Budget 72	Threads 112 Exercises 113 Numerical Problems 113 Understanding & Critical Evaluation 115 Web-Enhanced Questions 117 Synthesis Questions 118
Surface Heat Budget 73 Heat Budget 73 Bowen Ratio 74	CHAPTER 5 • STABILITY 119
Apparent Temperatures 76 Wind Chill 76 Heat Index and Humidex 77 Temperature Sensors 78 Summary 79	Building a Thermo-diagram 119 Components 119 Pseudoadiabatic Assumption 121 Complete Thermo Diagrams 121
Threads 79	Types Of Thermo Diagrams 122
Exercises 80 Numerical Problems 80 Understanding & Critical Evaluation 83 Web-Enhanced Questions 84 Synthesis Questions 85	Emagram 122 Stüve & Pseudoadiabatic Diagrams 122 Skew-T Log-P Diagram 122 Tephigram 122 Theta-Height (θ-z) Diagrams 122 More on the Skew-T 124
	Guide for Quick Identification of Thermo Diagrams 126
	Thermo-diagram Applications 127 Thermodynamic State 128 Processes 129

Parcels vs. Environment 134 Soundings 134 Buoyancy 135 Brunt-Väisälä Frequency 136 Flow Stability 138 Static Stability 138 Dynamic Stability 141 Turbulence Determination 142 Finding Tropopause Height & Mixed-layer Depth 143 Tropopause 143 Mixed-Layer 144 Summary 145 Threads 145 Exercises 145 Numerical Problems 145 Understanding & Critical Evaluation 148 Web-Enhanced Questions 149 Synthesis Questions 150 Large-size Thermo Diagrams 151 Emagram 152 Stüve Diagram 153 Skew-T Log-P Diagram 154 Tephigram 155 Theta-Z Diagram 156 Skew-T Log-P Diagram (ABL) 157 Theta-Z Diagram (ABL) 158 CHAPTER 6 • CLOUDS 159 Processes Causing Saturation 159 Cooling and Moisturizing 159 Mixing 160 Cloud Identification & Development 161 Cumuliform 161 Stratiform 162 Stratocumulus 164 Others 164 Cloud Organization 167 Cloud Classification 168 Genera 168 Species 168 Varieties 169 Supplementary Features 169 Accessory Clouds 169 Sky Cover (Cloud Amount) 170 Cloud Sizes 170 Fractal Cloud Shapes 171 Fractal Dimension 171 Measuring Fractal Dimension 172 Fog 173 Types 173 Idealized Fog Models 173 Summary 178

Threads 178

Exercises 179

Numerical Problems 179
Understanding & Critical Evaluation 181
Web Enhanced Questions 183
Synthesis Questions 183

CHAPTER 7 • PRECIPITATION 185

Supersaturation and Water Availability 186 Supersaturation 186 Water Availability 186 Number and Size of Hydrometeors 187 Nucleation of Liquid Droplets 188 Cloud Condensation Nuclei (CCN) 188 Curvature and Solute Effects 189 Critical Radius 192 Haze 192 Activated Nuclei 193 Nucleation of Ice Crystals 194 Processes 194 Ice Nuclei 195 Liquid Droplet Growth by Diffusion 196 Ice Growth by Diffusion 198 Ice Crystal Habits 198 Growth Rates 200 The Wegener-Bergeron-Findeisen (WBF) Process 201 Collision and Collection 202 Terminal Velocity of Hydrometeors 202

Collection & Aggregation Processes 204
Precipitation Formation 205
Precipitation Characteristics 207
Rain-Drop Size Distribution 207
Rainfall Rates 208
Snowfall Rates & Snow Accumulation 208

Precipitation Measurement 210

Precipitation Distribution 209

Summary 211 Threads 211

Exercises 212

Numerical Problems 212 Understanding & Critical Evaluation 214 Web-Enhanced Questions 217 Synthesis Questions 217

CHAPTER 8 • REMOTE SENSING 219

Radiative Transfer for Satellites 220
Signals 220
Transmittance and Windows 220
Planck's Law & Brightness Temperature 221
Radiative Transfer Equation 224
Weighting Functions 226
Weather Satellites 227

Map Analysis, Plotting & Isoplething 280

Summary 281 Threads 281

Exercises 282

Orbits 227	Numerical Problems 282
Geostationary Satellites 227	Understanding & Critical Evaluation 285
Polar Orbiting Satellites 228	Web-Enhanced Questions 285
Imager 230	Synthesis Questions 287
Visible 230	
Infrared (IR) 230 Water-vapor 231	
Other Channels 231	
Image Examples & Interpretation 231	CHAPTER 10 • DYNAMICS 289
Sounder 235	
Illustration of Retrieval Corollary 1 236	Winds and Weather Maps 290
Illustration of Retrieval Corollary 2 236	Height Contours on Isobaric Surfaces 290
Weather Radars 240	Plotting Winds 291
Fundamentals 240	Newton's Second Law of Motion 292
Maximum Range 241	Lagrangian Momentum Budget 292
Scan and Display Strategies 241	Eulerian Momentum Budget 293
Radar Bands 242	Horizontal Forces 294
Beam Propagation 243 Reflectivity 245	Advection 294
The Radar Equation 245	Pressure-Gradient Force 295
Rainfall Rate Estimated by Radar Reflectiv-	Centrifugal Force 296
ity 247	Coriolis Force 297
Bright Band 248	Turbulent-Drag Force 300 Summary of Forces 301
Hail 248	-
Other Uses for Reflectivity Data 248	Equations of Horizontal Motion 301
Doppler Radar 249 Radial Velocities 249	Horizontal Winds 302
Maximum Unambiguous Velocity 250	Geostrophic Wind 302 Gradient Wind 304
Velocity Azimuth Display (VAD) 252	Boundary Layer Wind 307
Identification of Storm Characteristics 253	Boundary-Layer Gradient (BLG) Wind 309
Spectrum Width 254	Cyclostrophic Wind 311
Difficulties 254	Inertial Wind 312
Polarimetric Radar 255	Antitriptic Wind 312
Phased-Array Radars & Wind Profilers 257	Summary of Horizontal Winds 313
Summary 260	Horizontal Motion 314
Threads 260	Equations of Motion — Revisited 314
Exercises 260	Scales of Horizontal Motion 315
Numerical Problems 260	Vertical Forces and Motion 315
Understanding & Critical Evaluation 262 Web-Enhanced Questions 265	Mass Conservation 317
Synthesis Questions 266	Continuity Equation 317
	Incompressible Continuity Equation 318 Boundary-Layer Pumping 319
	Kinematics 320
CHAPTER 9 • WEATHER REPORTS &	Measuring Winds 321
	Summary 322 Threads 322
MAP ANALYSIS 267	
	Exercises 322 Numerical Problems 322
Sea-level Pressure Reduction 267	Understanding & Critical Evaluation 324
Weather Observations, Reports 268	Web-Enhanced Questions 326
Weather Codes 268	Synthesis Questions 327
METAR and SPECI 270	
Weather Observation Locations 271	
Synoptic Weather Maps 274	
Station Plot Model 274	

CHAPTER 11 • GLOBAL CIRCULATION 329

Nomenclature 330

A Simplified Description of the Global Circulation 330

Near-surface Conditions 330

Upper-tropospheric Conditions 331

Vertical Circulations 332

Monsoonal Circulations 333

Differential Heating 334

Meridional Temperature Gradient 335

Radiative Forcings 336

Radiative Forcing by Latitude Belt 338

Heat Transport by the Global Circulation 338

Pressure Profiles 340

Non-hydrostatic Pressure Couplets 340

Hydrostatic Thermal Circulations 341

Geostrophic Wind & Geostrophic Adjustment 343

Ageostrophic Winds at the Equator 343

Definitions 343

Geostrophic Adjustment - Part 1 344

Thermal Wind Relationship 345

Thickness 345

Thermal Wind 346

Case Study 348

Thermal Wind & Geostrophic Adjust. - Part 2 349

Explaining the Global Circulation 350

Low Latitudes 350

High Latitudes 352

Mid-latitudes 352

Monsoon 356

Jet Streams 357

Baroclinicity & the Polar Jet 359

Angular Momentum & Subtropical Jet 360

Vorticity 362

Relative Vorticity 362

Absolute Vorticity 363

Potential Vorticity 363

Isentropic Potential Vorticity 364

Horizontal Circulation 365

Mid-latitude Troughs And Ridges 367

Barotropic Instability & Rossby Waves 367

Baroclinic Instability & Rossby Waves 371

Meridional Transport by Rossby Waves 374

Three-band General Circulation 376

A Measure of Vertical Circulation 377

Effective Vertical Circulation 377

Ekman Spiral In The Ocean 378

Summary 379

Threads 379

Exercises 380

Numerical Problems 380

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 382

Web-Enhanced Questions 386

Synthesis Questions 388

CHAPTER 12 • AIRMASSES & FRONTS 389

Anticyclones or Highs 390

Characteristics & Formation 390

Vertical Structure 391

Airmasses 391

Creation 392

Movement 397

Modification 397

Surface Fronts 399

Horizontal Structure 400

Vertical Structure 403

Geostrophic Adjustment - Part 3 404

Winds in the Cold Air 404

Winds in the Warm Over-riding Air 407

Frontal Vorticity 407

Frontogenesis 408

Kinematics 408

Thermodynamics 411

Dynamics 411

Occluded Fronts and Mid-tropospheric Fronts 413

Upper-tropospheric Fronts 414

Drylines 416

Summary 417

Threads 418

Exercises 418

Numerical Problems 418

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 419

Web-Enhanced Questions 421

Synthesis Questions 423

CHAPTER 13 • EXTRATROPICAL CYCLONES 425

Cyclone Characteristics 426

Cyclogenesis & Cyclolysis 426

Cyclone Evolution 427

Cyclone Tracks 430

Stacking & Tilting 432

Other Characteristics 433

Case Study of an Extratropical Cyclone Over North America 433

Overview and Storm Track 433

Storm Data 434

Surface Charts 438

85 kPa Charts 439

70 kPa Charts 439

100 - 50 kPa Thickness 439

50 kPa Charts 440

20 kPa Charts 440

20 kPa Hemispheric Chart 441

VIII CONTENTS

Isentropic Charts 441

Lee Cyclogenesis 443

Stationary Planetary Waves 443

Conservation of Potential Vorticity 445

Equatorward Propagation Along the Lee Side 446

Cyclone Spin-up 446

Vorticity Tendency 447

Quasi-Geostrophic Approximation 449

Application to Idealized Weather Patterns 450

Upward Motion 451

Continuity Effects 452

Omega Equation 456

Q-Vectors 460

Sea-level-pressure Tendency 463

Mass Budget 463

Diabatic Heating due to Condensation 465

Net Pressure Tendency 466

Self Development of Cyclones 468

Condensation 468

Temperature Advection 468

Propagation of Cyclones 469

Creation of Baroclinic Zones 469

Propagation of Cold Fronts 470

Summary 470

Threads 471

Exercises 473

Numerical Problems 473

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 475

Web-Enhanced Questions 478

Synthesis Questions 479

CHAPTER 14 • THUNDERSTORMS 481

Thunderstorm Characteristics 481

Appearance 482

Clouds Associated with Thunderstorms 482

Cells & Evolution 484

Thunderstorm Types & Organization 486

Thunderstorm Formation 496

Convective Conditions 496

Key Altitudes 496

High Humidity in the ABL 499

Instability, CAPE & Updrafts 503

CAPE 503

Updraft Velocity 508

Wind Shear in the Environment 509

Hodograph Basics 510

Using Hodographs 514

Triggering vs. Convective Inhibition 522

Convective Inhibition (CIN) 523

Trigger Mechanisms 525

Thunderstorm Forecasting 527

Outlooks, Watches & Warnings 528

Stability Indices for Thunderstorms 530

Storm Case Study 532

Summary 532

Threads 533

Exercises 533

Numerical Problems 533

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 536

Web-Enhanced Questions 541

Synthesis Questions 542

CHAPTER 15 • THUNDERSTORM HAZARDS 545

Precipitation and Hail 545

Heavy Rain 545

Hail 548

Downbursts and Gust Fronts 554

Characteristics 554

Precipitation Drag 555

Evaporative Cooling 556

Downdraft CAPE (DCAPE) 557

Pressure Perturbation 559

Outflow Winds & Gust Fronts 560

Lightning And Thunder 563

Origin of Electric Charge 564

Lightning Behavior & Appearance 566

Lightning Detection 568

Lightning Hazards and Safety 569

Thunder 571

Tornadoes 577

Tangential Velocity & Tornado Intensity 577

Types of Tornadoes & Other Vortices 582

Evolution as Observed by Eye 583

Tornado Outbreaks 583

Storm-relative Winds 584

Origin of Tornadic Rotation 586

Mesocyclones and Helicity 587

Tornadoes and Swirl Ratio 592

Summary 593

Threads 593

Exercises 594

Numerical Problems 594

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 597

Web-Enhanced Questions 600

Synthesis Questions 601

CHAPTER 16 • HURRICANES 603

Hurricane Structure 604

Intensity and Geographic distribution 605 Saffir-Simpson Hurricane Wind Scale 607

Typhoon Intensity Scales 607

Other Tropical-Cyclone Scales 607

Geographic Distribution and Movement 607

Evolution 608

Requirements for Cyclogenesis 608 Hurricane Triggers 610

Life Cycle 613

Movement/Track 615

Tropical Cyclolysis 616

Dynamics 617

Initial Spin Up 617

Subsequent Development 617

Inflow and Outflow 618

Thermodynamics 620

Fuel Creation and Intake 620

Exhaust 620

Warm Core 621

Carnot-cycle Heat Engine 624

A Hurricane Model 626

Pressure Distribution 626

Tangential Velocity 626

Radial Velocity 627

Vertical Velocity 628

Temperature 629

Composite Picture 629

Climatology 630

Seasonality 630

Locations of Strongest Cyclones 631

Natural Cycles & Changes in Activity 631

Hazards 631

Human Population and Zoning 631

Storm Surge 632

Surface Wind-waves 634

Inland Flooding 637

Thunderstorms, Lightning & Tornado

Outbreaks 637

Hurricane Forecasting 637

Prediction 637

Safety 638

Summary 639

Threads 639

Exercises 640

Numerical Problems 640

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 641

Web-Enhanced Questions 644

Synthesis Questions 644

CHAPTER 17 • LOCAL WINDS 645

Wind Frequency 645

Wind-speed Frequency 645

Wind-direction Frequency 646

Wind-Turbine Power Generation 647

Thermally Driven Circulations 648

Thermals 648

Cross-valley Circulations 649

Along-valley Winds 653

Sea breeze 654

Open-Channel Hydraulics 657

Wave Speed 658

Froude Number - Part 1 659

Conservation of Air Mass 660

Hydraulic Jump 660

Gap Winds 661

Basics 661

Short-gap Winds 661

Long-gap Winds 662

Coastally Trapped Low-level (Barrier) Jets 664

Mountain Waves 666

Natural Wavelength 666

Lenticular Clouds 666

Froude Number - Part 2 667

Mountain-wave Drag 668

Streamlines, Streaklines, and Trajectories 668

Bernoulli's Equation 669

Principles 669

Some Applications 672

Downslope Winds 675

Bora 675

Foehns and Chinooks 676

Canopy Flows 677

Forests and Crops 677

Cities 678

Summary 679

Exercises 680

Numerical Problems 680

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 682

Web-Enhanced Questions 684

Synthesis Questions 686

CHAPTER 18 • ATMOSPHERIC BOUNDARY LAYER 687

Static Stability — A Review 687

Explanation 687

Rules of Thumb for Stability in the ABL 689

Boundary-layer Formation 689

Tropospheric Constraints 689

Synoptic Forcings 690

ABL Structure and Evolution 692

Temperature 693

Cumulative Heating or Cooling 693

Stable-ABL Temperature 696

Mixed-Layer (ML) Temperature 697

Wind 699

Wind Profile Evolution 699

Drag, Stress, Friction Velocity, and Roughness

Length 700

Log Profile in the Neutral Surface Layer 702 Log-Linear Profile in Stable Surf. Layer 702

Profile in the Convective Radix Layer 703

Turbulence 705

Mean and Turbulent Parts 705

Variance and Standard Deviation 706 Isotropy 707 Turbulence Kinetic Energy 708 Free and Forced Convection 710 Turbulent Fluxes and Covariances 711 Turbulence Closure 713

Summary 716

Exercises 717

Numerical Problems 717
Understanding & Critical Evaluation 719
Web-Enhanced Questions 721
Synthesis Questions 722

CHAPTER 19 • AIR POLLUTION DISPERSION 723

Dispersion Factors 724

Air Quality Standards 725

Turbulence Statistics 726

Review of Basic Definitions 726

Isotropy (again) 727

Pasquill-Gifford (PG) Turbulence Types 728

Dispersion Statistics 728

Snapshot vs. Average 728

Center of Mass 729

Standard Deviation - Sigma 729

Gaussian Curve 730

Nominal Plume Edge 730

Taylor's Statistical Theory 731

Passive Conservative Tracers 731

Dispersion Equation 731

Dispersion Near & Far from the Source 732

Dispersion In Neutral & Stable Boundary Layers 732

Plume Rise 732

Gaussian Concentration Distribution 734

Dispersion In Unstable Boundary Layers (Convective

Mixed Layers) 735

Relevant Variables 735

Plume Centerline 736

Crosswind Integrated Concentration 736

Concentration 737

Summary 737

Threads 738

Exercises 739

Numerical Problems 739

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 741

Web-Enhanced Questions 742

Synthesis Questions 743

CHAPTER 20 • NUMERICAL WEATHER PREDICTION (NWP) 745

Scientific Basis of Forecasting 746

The Equations of Motion 746

Approximate Solutions 749

Dynamics, Physics and Numerics 749

Models 751

Grid Points 752

Nested and Variable Grids 752

Staggered Grids 753

Finite-Difference Equations 754

Notation 754

Approximations to Spatial Gradients 754

Grid Computation Rules 756

Time Differencing 757

Discretized Equations of Motion 758

Numerical Errors & Instability 759

Round-off Error 759

Truncation Error 760

Numerical Instability 760

The Numerical Forecast Process 762

Balanced Mass and Flow Fields 763

Data Assimilation and Analysis 765

Forecast 768

Case Study: 22-25 Feb 1994 768

Post-processing 770

Nonlinear Dynamics And Chaos 773

Predictability 773

Lorenz Strange Attractor 773

Ensemble Forecasts 776

Probabilistic Forecasts 777

Forecast Quality & Verification 777

Continuous Variables 777

Binary / Categorical Events 780

Probabilistic Forecasts 782

Cost / Loss Decision Models 784

Summary 786

Threads 786

Exercises 787

Numerical Problems 787

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 789

Web-Enhanced Questions 790

Synthesis Questions 791

CHAPTER 21 • NATURAL CLIMATE PROCESSES 793

Radiative Equilibrium 793
Greenhouse Effect 795
Atmospheric Window 796
Average Energy Budget 797
Astronomical Influences 797

Milankovitch Theory 797 Solar Output 803 Tectonic Influences 804 Continent Movement 804

Volcanism 804

Feedbacks 806

Concept 806

Idealized Example 807

Infrared Radiative (IR) Feedback 810

Water-vapor Feedback 810 Lapse-rate Feedback 810

Cloud Feedback 811

Ice-albedo (Surface) Feedback 811

Ocean CO₂ Feedback 812 Biological CO₂ Feedback 812

Daisyworld 813 Physics 813

Equilibrium and Homeostasis 815

GCMs 815

Present Climate 816 Definition 816

Köppen Climate Classification 817

Natural Oscillations 818

El Niño - Southern Oscillation (ENSO) 818 Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) 820 North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO) 824 Arctic Oscillation (AO) 824 Madden-Julian Oscillation (MJO) 824

Other Oscillations 824

Summary 825 Threads 826

Exercises 826

Numerical Problems 826 Understanding & Critical Evaluation 828 Web-Enhanced Questions 831 Synthesis Questions 832

CHAPTER 22 • OPTICS 833

Ray Geometry 833

Reflection 833

Refraction 834

Huygens' Principle 837

Critical Angle 837

Liquid-Drop Optics 837

Primary Rainbow 839

Secondary Rainbow 840

Alexander's Dark Band 841

Other Rainbow Phenomena 841

Ice Crystal Optics 842

Parhelic Circle 844

Subsun 844

22° Halo 845

46° Halo 846

Halos Associated with Pyramid Crystals 847 Circumzenith & Circumhorizon Arcs 848 Sun Dogs (Parhelia) 850

Subsun Dogs (Subparhelia) 851

Tangent Arcs 851

Other Halos 853

Scattering 856

Background 856

Rayleigh Scattering 857

Geometric Scattering 857

Mie Scattering 858

Diffraction & Interference 858

Corona, Iridescence and Glory 859

Supernumerary Bows 860

Mirages 861

Summary 863

Threads 863

Exercises 863

Numerical Problems 863

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 865

Web-Enhanced Questions 867

Synthesis Questions 868

APPENDIX A • FUNDAMENTALS OF SCIENCE 869

Dimensions and Units 870

Standards 870

Unit Conversion 871

Functions and Finite Difference 872

Relationships and Graphs 873

Linear 873

Logarithmic 873

Power 874

Errors 875

Systematic Error & Accuracy 875

Random Error & Precision 875

Reporting Observations 875

Error Propagation 876

On Doing Science 877

Summary 878

Exercises 878

Numerical Problems 878

Understanding & Critical Evaluation 878

Web Enhanced Questions 878

Synthesis Questions 878

APPENDIX B • CONSTANTS & CONVERSION FACTORS 879

Universal Constants 879 Math Constants 879

XII CONTENTS

Earth Characteristics 879
Air and Water Characteristics 880
Conversion Factors & Combined Parameters 880

INDEX 881

PREFACE

PREFACE

This is a book on practical meteorology. I wrote it for students and professionals in science and engineering who want to understand basic concepts, but who don't need to derive equations.

To make this book more accessible, I converted all the equations into algebra. With algebraic approximations to the atmosphere, you can see the physical meaning of each term, and you can plug in numbers to get usable answers.

No previous knowledge of meteorology is needed — I start from the basics. Your background should include basic algebra, trig, and classical physics. This book could serve the fields of Atmospheric Science, Meteorology, Environmental Science and Engineering, Air Quality Meteorology, Climatology, and Geography.

Readers like you have asked to see solved examples of the concepts, to enhance your understanding and speed your ability to apply them to your own situations. To fill this need, I have added "Solved Example" boxes for almost every equation in the book.

This book is designed to be both a textbook and a reference. As a textbook, the end of each chapter includes extensive homework exercises in the following categories: Numerical Exercises, Understanding & Critical Evaluation, Web-Enhanced Questions, and Synthesis Questions.

Although a hand calculator can be used for some of the homework exercises, other exercises are best solved on a computer spreadsheet such as Excel or using a mathematical program such as Matlab, Mathematica, or Maple. I used Excel for my solved examples and most of my graphs.

As a reference, I included in this book many tables, figures and graphs, and have a detailed index. Also, appendices include values of key constants and conversion factors.

This third edition has a new format. The body of the text runs mostly in the inside columns of each page. The outside columns on each page contain the supporting figures, graphs, tables, and solved examples. Other special boxes in these outside columns include Focus, On Doing Science, and Science Graffito. At the request of some readers, I've added

Beyond Algebra boxes that use calculus, differential equations and other advanced techniques, but you may safely ignore these boxes if you wish.

New to this edition is a chapter entitled Remote Sensing, which covers weather radar and satellites. Also new is a chapter on Weather Reports & Map Analysis. Many other chapters are greatly expanded and updated. I intentionally omitted large color photographs and maps from this book, partly to keep the price down, and partly because most readers can access such images via the internet.

For instructors, I inserted a bullet next to the most important equations, to help focus the learning. Also, the book contains too much material to cover in one term, so instructors should select the subset of chapters to cover.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A large number of students have used earlier drafts, allowing me to fix typos and make clarifications thanks to their careful scrutiny. I am indebted to the following additional experts for their suggestions to this 3rd edition: Phil Austin, William Beasley, Allan Bertram, Brian Black, Dominique Bourdin, Brian Cheng, Luca Delle Monache, Xingxiu Deng, Dennis Driscoll, Charlotte Gabites, Paul Greeley, William Hsieh, Katelyn Janzen, Chris Jeffery, Alison Jolley, Doug McCollor, Mathias Mueller, Laurie Neil, Lorne Nelson, Thomas Nipen, Robert Nissen, Anders Persson, Chris Pielou, Robert Rabin, Curt Rose, Alyson Shave, John Spagnol, Gert-Jan Steeneveld, David Stensrud, Haizhen Sun, Bruce Thomson, Greg West, May Wai San Wong, Yongmei Zhou, and Jeff Zong.

The 3rd edition builds upon the earlier editions. As stated in the 2nd edition, I am grateful to the following additional experts: Susan Allick Beach, Larry Berg, Bob Bornstein, David Finley, Maria Furberg, Josh Hacker, Phoebe Jackson, Scott Krayenhoff, Stephanie Meyn, Scott Shipley, Zbigniew Sorbjan, George Taylor, and Dave Whiteman.

XIV

Suggestions for the 1st edition came from: Horst Böttger, John Cassano, Judy Curry, C. Dale Elifrits, Jon Foley, Kit Hayden, Jim Hoke, Ed Hopkins, Dave Houghton, Jon Kahl, Ian Lumb, Mankin Mak, Jon Martin, Paul Menzel, Richard Peterson, Robert Sica, Greg Tripoli, and Pao Wang.

I thank the faculty and staff at the University of Wisconsin - Madison and the University of British Columbia - Vancouver, who were very supportive while I wrote the three editions during my tenures as professor. Storm photographs are reproduced with permission of the copyright holders: Warren Faidley, Gene Moore, and Gene Rhoden. I apologize for any names that I forgot. Any remaining errors are my own.

I especially thank my wife Linda for her patience and understanding.

Roland Stull

FOCUS • About the Author

Roland Stull holds a Bachelor's degree in Chemical Engineering and a Ph.D. in Atmospheric Science. He is a Certified Flight Instructor (CFI) and a Certified Consulting Meteorologist (CCM).

Stull is a professor of Atmospheric Science at the University of British Columbia, Canada. He is a fellow of both the American Meteorological Society (AMS) and the Canadian Meteorological and Oceanographic Society (CMOS). He is author or co-author over over 95 scientific journal papers, and he wrote two singleauthor books.